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1. Name of Property
historic name White Oak New Town Historic District

other names/site number

2. Locatlon 2400-2418 N. Church (east side), 2312-2509 Spruce,; 2310-2503 Hubbard,

street & number and 2401-2503 Cypress streets NAA not for publication
clty, town _Greensboro , NAA vieinity
state North Carolina code NC county Guilford code 081 zlp code 27405
3. Classitication
Ownership of Property Category of Property _ Number of Resources within Property
[Z] private buliding(s) Contributing Nonoontributing
% public-local district 164 0__bulldings
public-State site 0 O __ sites
] public-Federal E structure 0 O _ structures
object ' 0 O__ objeots
164 0 __Total

Historic and Architecturalnymber of contributing resources previously

Name of related multiple property listing:
Creenbboro, North Carolina, 1880-1941 listed In the National Reglster

Resources of Greensboro,

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the deslignated authority under the Natlonal Historlc Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this
(X nomination [] request for determination of eligibllity meets the dooumentation standards for registering properties In the

National Regiser of Historlc Placas and mepts the procedural and professional requirements set forth In 38 CFR Part 60,
In my /}f)q he pro@ty [ ;};:i es not meet the National Reglster criterla. [_]8ee continuation sheet.
Pt o ’/m'

[]
/. A 2-/2"9Z.
Slgna‘ﬂre of certifying officlal’ / Date

ts
[
/

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [_Imeets [_]does not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet,

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:
[Jentered in the National Register.
D See continuation sheet.
[ ] determined eligible for the National
Reglster. [_] See continuation sheet.
(] determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[Jremoved from the National Register.
[ other, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Domestic/single dwelling

Domestic/secondary structure

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Domestic/single dwelling

Domestic/secondary structure

7. Description

Architectural Ciassification
(enter categories from instructions)

Bungalow/Craftsman

Other: Gable-end

Other: Gable-front

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

“foundation _Stucco.

walls __Stucco

Wood
roof _Asphalt
other __Wood

Describe present dnd hi;storic physical appearance.

[Z]See continuation sheet
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The White Oak New Town historic district is exceptionally intact.
All of +the one hundred hollow-tile-walled, one- and two-story,
stuccoed houses built there by the Cone family’s Proximity
Manufacturing Company about 1920 survive. Sixty-four car sheds,
erected by the company in the late 1920s, continue to bracket the
alleys that parallel the district’s regular grid of streets. All of
these buildings contribute to the integrity of the district. Only
three small, frame, one-story classroom buildings (erected at 2507 and
2509 Hubbard Street and 2504 Cypress), removed after +the 1935
construction of +the Ceasar Cone Public School just west of the
district, are no longer extant. The houses still stand on the same
small lots in the same relationship to the car sheds, streets, alleys,
and each other as they always have. All but two are s3till stuccoed
and their exteriors have been little altered.

The mill village was laid out and constructed by +the company
around 1920 +to serve the White 0ak textile mill, a half-mile to the
east. t was organized around a small isolated grid of streets which
do not continue past 11th and 12th streets at the south, 14th and 16th
streets at the north, North Church Street at the west, and the former
Southern Railway tracks at the east. All of the houses were regularly
spaced along +the four north-south streets: North Church, Spruce,
Hubbard, and Cypress. These streets originally had been named Cherry,
Spruce, Peach, and Cypress, respectively, by the North Carolina Steel
and Iron Company in plat maps filed in 1895. It was left to the
Proximity Manufacturing Company, however, to actually extend the paper
grid of the plat maps this far north and to build White Cak New Town
(Guilford County Plat Book 2, Pages 1, 2, 3, and 4).

Two different house types were constructed in the village.

Eighty of +the housss are one-story +tall, two rooms deep, and have
gable-front roofs. The other twenty are two rooms deep, two stories
tall, and topped by gable-end roofs. Their forms notwithstanding, all

of the houses were built of hollow-tile walls covered with stucco.

The exposed rafter ends, gable-front roofs, and off-center,
gable-front porches of the one-story houses mark them as bungalows.
They further display a hint of the Mediterranean and Tudor Revival
styles at their stuccoed walls and half-timbered gables. Beneath
these restrained nods to the popular styles of the teens and twenties,
he houses are basic, functional structures. Three bays <cross their
ront facades, lighting their +two front rooms. Porches zupported by
guare posts with plain piinths and capitals shade two of these bays.

n kb ¢t
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Although no longer heated by coal, the houses retain +two interior
brick chimney stacks. ©Small structures of about 1,100 square feet,
they were built with four rooms divided by plastered partition walls.
At almost all of the houses, additional space has been gained through
enclosing the small porches that were originally notchaed into the
corners of their rear elevations. The most notable alterations of the
houses are the removal or covering up with modern materials of most of
the half-timbering and the alteration through new posts, railings, or
screening of many front porches. The metal pipe railings of many of
the front porches date from renovations made <+to the houses by the
company 1in the early 19505 (personal communications with longtime
residents Bill Dixon and Carrie Owen, June 12, 1381). These changes
and alterations have not diminished +the historic character of the
village, which is dependent on +the repetition of forms and uniform
setbacks and siting, rather than on architectural detail.

The village’s two-story houses all stand facing each other on the
2400 Dblock of Hubbard Street, ten on either side of the street. They
were built as single-family dwellings for large families, their
approximately 1,700 square feet of space holding six rather than four
rooms. More plainly finished than their smaller neighbors, +they had
neither half-timbering nor the bungalow-style play of porch and gable

at their front facades. Exposed rafter ends do underpin their gable-
end roofs, however, which are ©broken at their ridges by single, off-
center, brick chimney stacks. Their shed-roofed, attached porches

stretch from end to end of their front facades, which are pierced by
an entry to one side and paired windows to the other. Supporting the
porches are scuare posts identical to those of the one-story houses.
Many of the porches have been altered in a fashion similar to that of
the one-story houses.

All of the district’s houses are set on lots that are generally
sixty or sixty-five feet wide and between 150 and 170 feet deep.
Their front yards, about half as deep as those to the rear, are marked

by shrubs and small shade trees. Shade +trees, fruit trees, and
gardens enliven many backyards. Many of the +trees and shrubs were
planted or provided by the company. The gardens as well are in part a

legacy of the company, which encouraged employees to raise their own
fruits and vegetables.

The alleys laid out parallel to the rears of the houses had, by
1925, a few sheds and garages along them, built by the community’s
more enterprising residents (personal communication with Bill Dixon,
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June 12, 1991; Sanborn Map Company 1925). They also had numerous tiny
unpainted outhouses, wvisible in photos of the village in the
possession of the Cone Mills Corporation in Greensboro, none of which
still stand. By +the late 13820s +the company had raised a number of
frame garages, aptly called "car sheds" by the residents; of frame
construction, they were barely large enough to hold a car. Functional
structures, they feature gable-front roofs with exposed rafter ends
and double doors, reminiscent of barn doors, that have rails set into
"X" shapes across their bottom +two-thirds. Interspersed among the
early car sheds are small, unobstusive sheds, car sheds, and other
modern outbuildings. The alleys the outbuildings face are narrow and
unpaved, unlike the former dirt streets, which are now paved and edged
with concrete curbs.

The houses of White Oak New Town were considered at the time of
their construction to be better than contemporary mill houses.
Longtime resident Carrie Owen remembers calling the neighborhood "Snob
Hill" as a child, wuntil she moved there (perszonal communication with
Carrie Owen, June 12, 1991). The houses had a suggestion of style to
them. They also had bathrooms, albeit empty bathrooms for their first
ten years. They did not look like the worn sharecropper and tenant
houses that many mill workers had fled, which cannot be said for the
one-story, one-room deep houses that filled most of the other mill
villages. As +they did in the 1920s, they continue to form a well-
maintained and coherent neighborhood. ‘
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INVENTORY LIST OF HISTORIC DISTRICT PROPERTIES

Methodology

ID NUMBER: Each house in the district iz assigned a number. An early
car shed associated with a houss 1s assignad the same numbser as the
house and a letter, so the first house in the inventory list is #1 and
its car shed is #la. The district map accompanying +the nomination is
labelled with these ID numbers. All houses and early car sheds have
been assigned numbers. Modern sheds, garages, and other small
outbuildings have not been assigned numbers. '

STATUS: The letter "C" denotes a contributing building. All of the
houses and car sheds in the district are contributing buildings.

ADDRESS: The address listed is the present address of the resource.
All of the streets which the houses front upon run north-south. They
were inventoried from west to east; the west side of a street (the odd

numbered addressez) i3 listed first, +then the east side (the even
numbered addresses). The addresses of all of the houses have changed
since they were built. The original addresses are noted at the
additional comments beneath each entry.

STYLE /FORM: All of the one-story houses in the district are modest
gable-front bungalows. All of the two-story houses are modest gable-
end buildings. Both +types are constructed of hollow tile. The

cladding of those few not still covered with stucco is noted at the
additional comments beneath the columnar entries. All of the esarly
car sheds are tiny, frame, gable-front buildings.

PRESENT USE: The present rather than historic use of a resource is
denoted here. With few exceptions, the houses have always been used
as houses and the car sheds as garages or sheds. Any different,

earlier use of a house is noted along with the additional information
that follows each entry.

DATE: The district’s houses first appear in the 1921 Greensboro city
irectory and were therefore zrected by the Cone Mills company around
1220. The car sheds were built early by the company, although not as

garly as the houses. They probably date from the late 1920s.

HGHT: Heights are listed as "1" for one-story buildings and "2" for

two-story buildings.
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ORIG/EARLY OCCUPANT: The names of the earliest known occupants were
taken from the 1923 Greensboro city directory. Although the houses
appeared in the 1921 and 1922 city directories, the 1923 directory was
the first to list the streets of White Oak New Town in its street
index. It was therefore the first directory from which a list of
occupants could be drawn. It appears, however, that almost all of the
1823 occupants were the original occupants of the houses. At a few
addresses, mno occupant was listed in the 1923 city directory. At
these the name of the first occupant to appear in a city directory is
listed, along with the date of that directory.

OCCUPATION: All of the working occupants of the district’s houses
were employed by Cone Mills, probably all or virtually all at the
White Oak mill. Although wives and working-age children worked in the
mills along with husbands and fathers, the directories almost always
list only the occupation of the man-of-the-house.

[3: Additional notable information about a resource--including
original address and use, original noteworthy architectural features,
and major alterations--is given briefly in brackets underneath the
inventory list entry for =ach resource.
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Id  STATUS ADDRESS STYLE/FORM PRESENT USE  [DATE  HGHT (ORIG/EARLY OCCUPANT  OQCCUPATIN

NORTH CHURCH GTREET (origimally Cherry Strest, then Poplar Strest)

il

i ¢ 2418 N Churcn St Gable—front bungalow  Residence it | David Hilsen #ill hand ’
la C peror Gable-éront Car shed 1925-30 |

{Original address was 39 Cherry Street; retains half-tinbered adornment and erly tar shed]
2 L 2416 N Church 5t Gable-tront bungalow  Residence t {920 R.A, Bright Keaver

(Original address was 37 Cherry Street]

3 L 2414 ¥ Church St Gable~front bungalon  Residence L0 L.F. Johnson ¥itl hend
€ e Gable-front Car shed 1925-30 1§

(Original address was 35 Cherry Street; retains half-timbered adornment and early car shedl
4 ) 2412 N Church St Gable~front bungalow  Residence 1920 ! ¥rs. Hillie Trogdon  Widow
{Original address was 33 Cherry Street; retains sguare porch posts)

L 2410 W Church St Gable—front bungalow  Residence 9 ! E.N. Frazier Kill hand
¢ voror Bable—front Car shed 192530 |

& wn

{Original address was 3! Cherry Street; retains half-tisbered adernment, square porch posts, and early car shedl

b C 2408 N Church 5t Gable-tront bungalow  Residence 920 | Wrs, B.A. Dumn #idow
2 G o Gable—tront Car shed 192530 |

{Criginal address was 29 Cherry Street; retains square porch posts and sarly car shed]

) 2406 N Church St Bable—tront bungalow  Residence 90 | John Foust Card holder
a ¢ et Gable-tront Car shed 1925730 |

~1

~1

{Griginal address was 27 Cherry Strest; retains square perch posts and early car shed]

3 C 2404 N Church St Gable-front bungalow  Residence 1920 | WA, #illiaason ¥eaver
22 € oo Gable~$rent Car shed 1925-30 |

(Criginal address was 25 Cherry Street; retains early car shed)
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104 STATUS ADDRESS STYLE/FORY PRESENT LSS DATE  HGMT  CRIG/EARLY OCDUPRNT  DCCLPATION
9 £ 2402 N Church St Gable~fromt bungelow  Residence £.i920 Hrs, Sallie Pegras Hidowt

{Original address was 23 Cherry Street; retains halé-tiebered adornment and square porch posts) ,
0 € 2400 N Church St Gable~tront bungalow  Residence i | Epery Pegran Bricklayer

{Original address was 21 Cherry Street; retains square porch posts)

SPRUCE STREET

i C 2507 Spruce 8t Bable-trent bungalow  Residence i | Herman Earrismn Clerk

{Original address was 50 Spruce Strest; retains square porch posts]

12 C 2507 Spruce St Bable—front bungalow  Residence 61920 4 John Jordan i1l hand
i2a ¢ oo Gable~front Car ched 1925-30 |

{Original address was 48 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]

i3 C 2509 Spruce St Gable—front bungalow  Residence Lig2n ! Beorge Wyrick Warper
3¢ ¢ o Bable-tront Car ched 192-3 !

{Original address was 46 Spruce Streety retains half-timbered adorneent, square porch posts, and early car shed)

4 L 2503 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence i Edward Burnside Dolpher
g S Beble-front Car shed 1925-30 |

(Criginal address was 44 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early tar shed)

15 C 230! Spruce St Sable—front bungalow  Residence 1720 J.L. Reed Looa fiver
t5a € L fable~front Car shed 19253 |

{Original address was 42 Spruce Street; retains early car shed)

6 L 2419 Spruce St Sable~front bungalow  Residence e 1920 | B.F, Hayes ¥ill hand
e C Lo Bable-tront Car shed 1925-3%0 ¢

{Driginal address was 40 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)
g p j 3 P P Y
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7 ¢C 2417 Spruce §t Gabla-front bungalow  Residence 920 Colon Saith Card holder
i7a C oowoo Bable~front Car shed 192530

[friginal address was 38 Spruce Street; retains early car shedl

8 C 2415 Spruce St Bable—front bungalow  Residence 920 | R.S. Squires Card holder
18z C oo Gable—tront Car shed 192530 1

(Original address was 36 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)

19 € 2413 Spruce 5t Gable—front bungalow  Residence ifn I.H. Robinson Hill hand
92 € vorow Gable-front Car shed 1925-30 1

[Original address was 34 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]

0 C 2411 Spruce St Bable-front bungalow  Residence c. 4920 - 1 Rilliam Reid Loon fixer
¢ C L Gable—front {ar shed 1923-30

{Original address was 32 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]

A C 2409 Spruce St Bable-front bungalow  Residence cl920 ! AH, @hitt Card holder

{Criginal address was 20 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts)

2 G 2807 Spruce St Gable~root bungalow  Residence 1920 1 #.B. Robinson Speeder operator
M € oromoo Gable—+ront Car shed 1925-30 1§

{Criginal address was 28 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]

FARENRY 2405 Soruce St Sable-front bungalow  Residence 920 | Jares Sevell Heaver
2 C L Gable—front Car shed 1925-30 |

[Original address was Zh Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]
% £ 2403 Spruce St Gable-tront bungalow  Residence 1920 | %.L. Sescoas Hill hand

{Original address was 24 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts)
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5 C 2401 Spruce St Gable-tront bungalow  Residence 920 ¢ Everett Lawson #ill hand
2% € oo Bable-front Car shed 1925-3%0 |

{Original address was 22 Spruce Street; retains early car shedl

% C 2508 Spruce 5t Bable~front bungalow Residence 4920 R.C. McDonald Heaver
ks L L Gahle-tront Car shed 1925-3% |

{Original address was 49 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)

7 C 2306 Spruce St Gable—front bungalow  Residence L1920 H.L. Leonard Nill hand
72 € e Gable-front Car shed 1925-3 ¢

iDri-ginal address was 47 Spruce Street; retains sguare porch posts and early car shedl

2 C 2504 Spruce St Bable-froat bungalow  Residence L 7: I Aud. Lewey Card holder
{Original address was 45 Spruce Street; retains sguare porch postsl

? C 2502 Spruce St Sable-fromt bungalow  Residence i C.E. Bragg ¥ill hand
{Original address was 43 Spruce Strest; retains square porch posts; stuccoed walls covered with aluinua sidingl

. T 2500 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence T 92t J. 4. Newaan Slubber operator

{Original address was 41 Spruce Street]

31 C 2418 Spruce St Bable=front bungalow  Residence 1920 | J,B. Caveness Reaver
la € Lo Gable-front Car ched 1923-30 |

(Criginal address was 39 Spruce Street; retains sariy car ched)

2t 2414 Spruce St Gable-tront tungalow  Residence oifn ! F.R. Epivey Second hand
oo Bable-front Car shed 192530 |

(Original address was 37 Spruce Streety retains early car shed]

2414 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence {920 Aléred Hedrick Helper
v v R Sahle—irent Car shed 192530 |

{Original zddress #as 35 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)
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¥ € 2412 Spruce §t Gable-front bungalow  Residence cif John Vincent Hill hand
¥a € S Gable-front Car shed 1923-30

{Original address was 33 Spruce Strests retains square porch posts and early car shedl

¥ € 2410 Spruce St Gable-front hungalow  Residence 9 Walter Shepherd Slubber cperator
¥k C oo Bable—tront Car shed 192530

{Original address was 31 Spruce Street; retains early rar shed)

¥ C 208 Spruce St Gable—front bungalow  Residence c 920 ftiss L.J. Jones {1924) Mo occupation listed
a C ooy Gable-front Car ched 1925-30 |

{Original address was 29 Spruce Street; listed as vacant in 1923 directory; retains early car shed)
3 € 2806 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence o920 1 E.H. ¥all Loon 4ixer
(Criginal address was 27 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts)

¥ C 2404 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence 1920 i R.E. Godfrey Hill hand

-

(Original address was 23 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts)

». C 2402 Spruce &t Sable~¢ront bungalow  Residence oif0 | Bud York Traveling salesgan
M C e 8able-front Car ched 1925-%0 |

[0riginal address was 23 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]
v T 2400 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow  Residence 1920 J.H, dall Hill hand

{Original address was 21 Spruce Streetl

< 2318 Spruce St Gable~frunt bungalow  Residence 1920 ¥rs. ngie Manuel didow
#a G oo Gable-tront Car shed 1925-30 !

{Original address was 19 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)

2 C 2314 Spruce St Gable—front bungalow  Residence .90 Walter Sauthern Card holder

"Original address was {7 Spruce Street)
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$3 0 2314 Spruce St Gable-front bungalow Residence  l9%0 ! L.B. Bishen Secticn operator
£Ba ¢ oo Sable~front Car shed 19230

[Original address was 15 Spruce Street; retains early car shed)

H C 212 Spruce St Gable~front bungalow  Rezidence 61920 Willian Caligon Dolpher
{Original address was 13 Spruce Street; retains square porch posts]

HUBBARD STREET (originally Peach Street)

% C 203 Habbard St Bable~front bungalow  Residence tdg0 | Jon W, Harris (1936)  Card grinder
482 € roror Gable-front Car shed 1925-30 |

{Original address was 44 Peach Street; retains early car shed, The 1923 and 1930~1935 directories list this house as varantj the 1924 through 1929
. directories list is as containing scheol rooss. ] '

% C 201 tubbard St Gable~front bungalow  Residence e {90 ! 8.5, Martindale {1941) Second hand
dba € oo Gable—front Car shed 1925-30 !

{Criginal address was 42 Peach Street; retains early car shed, The 1923 and 1930-19%0 directories list this house as vacant; the 1924 through 1929
directories list is as containing school rooms.]

i7 . ¢ 2419 Hubbard St Bableend Residence i 2 Forest Blackeon Hill hand

{Original address was 40 Peach Streetl

48 C 2417 Hubbard 5t Gable-end Restdence it 2 H.B. Thoaas #ill hand
8z C oo Bable~fromt Car shed 1923-30 |

{Original address was I8 Peach Street; retains esrly car shed]

49 ¢ 2415 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence 1920 2 £.C. Sanford Hill hand
49 C oot Gable-front Car ched 1925-30 1

{Original address was 34 Peach Street; retains square porch posts and early car shedl

N L 2417 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence 20 2 ¥, Sarah Foster Widow

{Original address was 34 Peach Street; retains square porch postsl
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i C 2411 Hubbard St Gable~end Residence 21920 2 J.A. Hughes {oor tixer
5 € oo Gable-front Car ched 1925-30 !
[Original address was 32 Peach Street; retains early car shed] '
w ¢ 2407 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence LT 2 C.C. #itt Speeder operator
[Original address was 30 Peach Streety retains square porch posts)
I C 2407 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence i 2 6,¥, Baity Drastsman
Ha C e Gahle-tront Car shed 1925-30 1
{Original address was 28 Peach Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)
¥ C 2405 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence 1920 2 #illies Davis i1l hand
W € peror oo Bable-front Car shed 1925-3% 1
(Original address was 24 Peach Strest; retains square porch posts and early car shed]
5 2403 Hubbard €t Bable-end Residence L0 2 “rs, Pearl Tyson Heaver
Fa € orr Gable—ront Car shed 1925-30 !
{Original address was 24 Peach Street!
56' ) 2401 Hubbard St Bable-end Residence 9 2 7.8, dalden Loca fixer
(Original address was 22 Peach Street; stuccoed walls covered with alusinug sidingl
g < 2349 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence LR 2 C.R dernigan i1l hand
(Original address was 20 Peach Street; retains square porch posts]
B C 2347 thbbard St Bable-end Residence oifn 2 T4, Curry i1l hand
{Original address was 8 Peach Street; retains square porch postsl
R L 2315 Hubbard St 5able-end Residence 1920 2 “es Tippett Heaver
Fa L oo Sable-front Car shed 1925-30 ¢

[Criginal address was 16 Peacn Street; retains square porch posts and early tar shed)
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D¢ STATUS ADDRESS STYLE/FORM PREGENT USE  [DATE  HGHT ORIG/EARLY DCCUPANT  OCCUPATION
&0 C + 2313 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence s 2 J.F. Peterson Nill hand
{Ociginal zddress was 14 Peach Street) \
b1 C 2311 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence e 1920 2 John Steele Heaver

[Original address was 12 Peach Street}

2 ¢ 2502 Rubbard St Gable—front bungalow  Residence t 920 M. Ottis Wyrick (1934) Heaver
622 C v Bable—front Car shed 192730 |

{Original address was 43 Peath Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed, The 1923 and 1930-1935 directories list this house as vacant;
the 1924 through 1929 directories list is a5 containing school rooes.]

8t 2500 Hubbard 8t Gable~front bungalow  Residence L4920 1 Flake D. Redeond (1934) Deputy sheritf
f3a L P Gable-front Car ched 1925-30 |

{Original address was 41 Peacn Street; retains half-tisbered adorneent, sguare porch posts, and early car shed, The 1923 and {930-1935 directories
list this house as vacant; the 1924 through 1929 directories list is as containing school rooms. Sheriff Redmond was espioyed by Cone Nills.]

#4 ¢ 2418 Kubbard &t Gable-end Residence 1920 2 6.4, foster Clerk
{0riginal address was 39 Peach Street; retains square porch postsl

5 £ 2416 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence ti920 2 J.fy Cooper Hill hand
t5a € S Gable~front Car shed 1925-30

—

{Criginal address was 37 Peach Street; retains early car shed]
% L 2414 Hubberd St Gable-end Residence 4920 2 T.d, HcDaniel Loor ¢iver
{riginal address was 3 Peach Street; retains square porch posts)

&7 L 2412 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence c.i920 2 M.A. Fracheur Hill hand
872 °C L Sable-front Car shed 19253 |

-

{Original address was 33 Peacn Streety retains square porch posts and early car shedl
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108 STATLS ADDRESS STYLE/FORM PRESENT USE  DATE  HGHT  CRIG/EARLY OCCUPANT  CCCUPATION
88 C . 2410 Hubbard Gt Gable-end Residence e d920 2 S.P. Boaz Speeder cperator
82 € L Gable-front Car shed 1925-30 |

(Original address was 31 Peach Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]

Y 2408 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence i 2 John Carrico Hill hand
92 € e Gable~front Car shed 192530 1

{Original address was 29 Peach Street; retains square porth posts and early car shed)

70 C 2404 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence ti920 2 C.He Seyaour Loon $ixer
0 € . Bable-front Car ched 1925-30 1

{Original address was 27 Peach Street; retains square perch posts and early car shed]

no¢ 2404 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence L1 2 S.L. Welech Section hand

[Original address was 25 Peach Street; retains square porch postsl

€ 2402 Hubbard St Gable-end Residence 90 2 J.C. Evans Heaver
{Original address was 23 Peach Streetl

3L 2400 Pubbard St Gable-end Residence 920 2 J.H. Bowaan Spooler

Ba € ver o8 Gable—front Car shed 192230 {

T € S Gable-front Car shed 19230 1

{Original address was 2! Peach Street; retains two early car sheds)

FL S 2318 Futbard St Bable~front bungaiow  Residence 1920 1 Joseph Moore Slubber operator

{Original address was !9 Peach Street; retains half-timbered adornment and square porch posts)

5L 2316 tubbard St Gable-front bungalow  Residence g0 Joseph Varner Hill hand
732 C . Gable—front Car shed 1925-30 1

{Original address was !7 Peach Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)
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I STATUS ADDRESS STYLE/FORY PRESENT U6 DATE  HGHT (RIG/EMRLY OCCIPMT  OCCUPATION
76 € 2314 Hubbard St Gable-front bungalow  Residence 920 | §H. Adess Weaver
e €'ttt Gablefront Croshed 19500 |

{Original address was 13 Peach Strest; retains square porch posts and esrly car shed)
n ot 2312 Hubbard St Gable—front bungalow  Residence nLige 8.J. ¥ilson Hill hand
(Original address was {3 Peach Street; retains square porch postsl

"’ C 2310 Hubbard St Bable~front bungalow  Residence i J.P. White Heaver
72 € w0 Bable~front Car shed 192530

{Original address was 11 Peach Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)

CYPRESS STREET
7 C 203 Cypress St Gable-front bungalow  Residence e %0 1 Henry Mance Hill hand
92 C oo Gabie-front Car shed 1925-30 1

(Original address was 44 Cypress Street; retzins square porch posts and early car shed]

B C 2501 Cypress St Gable~front bungalow  Residence 1920 ! R.B. Stacy Second hand
ga. € oo Gable-front Car shed 192530 !

{Original address was 42 Cypress Streety retains square porch posts and early car shedl

8t 2419 Cypress St Gable-front bungalow  Residence G190 Surnice Brown Hill hand
8la € roror Gable-tront Car shed 1922-30 1

(Original address was 40 Cypress Street; retains early car shed]

2 2417 Cypress St Gable-frent bungalow  Residence t.1920 | Jesse Bishop Hill hand
822 € o Gable—~front Car shed 1925-3 |

{Original address was 38 Cypress Street; retains half-tisbered adornment and early car shedl

B3 C 2417 Cypress St Gable-¢ront bungalow  Residence 1920 3R, Thromer Loow 7ixer

{Briginal address was 34 Cypress Strest; retains sguare porch posts)
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ID¥  STATHS ADDRESS STYLE/FORM FRESEMT USE  DATE  HGHT  CRIG/EARLY OCCUPANT QCCLPATICR
84 € 2413 Cypress &t Gable~front bungalow  Residencs 920 1t B.E. Capps ¥ill hand
Ba O e Bable-front Car shed 1925-30 | ,

[Original address was 24 Cypress Street; retains early car shedl

g5 € 2411 Cypress St Bable-front bungalow  Residence LIt KM Tidwell Looa fixer
g5 C R Bable—tront Car shed 1925-30 1

{Original address was 32 Cypress Street; retains eerly car ched)
g € 2409 Cypress St Gable-front bungalow  Residence i J.R, Heaver Hatchean
{Original address was 30 Cypress Street; retains half-timbered adornment]

g7 ¢C 2407 Cypress &t Gable-front bungalow  Residence ti920 | 4.7, Hatson Lapper cperator
872 C Bowor o Bable-front Car shed 19259 |

{Original address was 28 Cypress Streset; retains sarly car shed]

8 2405 Cypress St Sable-front bungalow  Residence 1920 ! .M, Hayes Looa fixer
Bz C oo Gable~front Car shed 1923-30 ¢

{Original address was 26 Cypress Street; retains early car shed]
8 C 2803 Cypress §t Gable~front bungalow Residence ..l920 | .5, Seott Hill hand
(Criginal address was 24 Cypress Street; retaing square porch posts]
M C 2401 Cypress St Gable~frent bungalew  Residence cif20 ! J.E, Riddle Kill hand
{Original address was 22 Cypress Street; retains square porch posts)

ML 2502 Cypress 5t Gable—front bungalow  Residenca e i920 Hre. LA, Reid Ridow
fMa L oo Bable-front Car shed 1925-30 1

{Original address was 43 Cypress Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed]
92 e 700 Cypress &t Gable-front sungalow  Residence €. 1920 | J.H. Harder Heaver

{Original address was 4! Cypress Street; retains haif-tisbered adornment and sguare porch posts)
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ID8  STATUS ADDRESS STYLE/FORY PRECENT USE DATE  HeHT ORIG/EARLY OCCUPANT  DCCLPATION

€ - 2418 Cypress &t Gable—front bungalow  Residence 90 ¢ JJH, Wremn Beaser

¥ C oo Bable-front Car shed 1925-30 ¢

{Original address was 39 Cypress Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed] )
% L 2416 Cypress St Bable-front bungalow  Residence it | J.B. Riddle Slasher

2 C e Gable~front Car shed 192530 1

{Original address was 37 Cypress Street; retains square porch posts and early car shed)

%"t 2414 Cypress St Bable-front bungalow  Residence LT Doaer Shipman Beager
% € e Bable-front Car shed 192230 |

[Original address was 35 Cypress Strest retains early cer shed)

% € 2412 Cypress 6t Bable-front bungalow  Residence L1920 | #.C. Thornton Keaver
[Original address was 33 Cypress Stresetl

7 € 2410 Cypress St Sable-front bungalow  Residence ti920 | Lod. Berrier Clerk
{Original address was 3! Cypress Streety retains square perch posts)

® C 2408 Cypress St Bable-~front bungalon  Residence 0,1920 4 £.8. Barnes Beaaer
M € oo Bable-tront Car shed 1923-30 !

{Criginal address was 29 Cypress Streety retains square porch posts and early car shed]
5 G 2404 Cypress St Gable—front bungalow  Residence c.i920 R.R. Hann Reaver

{Original address was 27 Cypress Street)

g 2404 Cypress St Bable—front bungaiow  Residence T 4920t T4, Michael i1l hand
100a € oo Gabla-front far shed 1925-30 |

{Original address was 25 Cypress Street; retains square porch pests snd early car shed)



8. Statement of Significance
Cenrtifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[___] nationally Dstatewide j locally

Applicable National Register Criteria @A DB X]c (o

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) DA DB E]C DD DE DF [____]G

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture 1920-:341 ' 1920
Cormunity Planning and Development
Incustry

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A Unknown L

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted abcve.

E‘:]See continuation sheet
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Summary

White ©Oak New Town, built by the Cone {family’s Proximity
Manufacturing Company about 1920, is the most intact of the many mill
villages +that characterize northeast Greensboro. Its small well- ,
maintained houses, car sheds, and lots illuminate the day to day lives
of the city’s thousands of textile employees and their families in the
1920s and 1930s. More broadly, the wvillage reflects the power and
importance of the textile industry in twentieth-century Greensboro and
the physical impression it made upon the city’s landscape. Continuing
to form a separate distinct community, White Oak New Town’s little-
altered houses retain +their integrity of location, association,
feeling, and szetting, as well as their attributes of form and style.
Cut from two molds, they stand on their original lots in the same
relationship to streets and alleys, car sheds and each other, as they
have since the 1920s. The altered White Oak Mill, +their reason for
being, still stands less than a half-mile walk to their east.

White Oak New Town’s period of significance, which stretches from
its circa 1920 construction until the onset of World War II, fallis

within the second of Greensboro’s historic contexts, Modern
Suburbanization and Industrialization, 1800-1341. The most relevant
subsections within that context are +the two which cover the textile
industry and mill wvillage development. The contexts for the

district’s architecture and overall appearance are found at Property
Type 1, particularly at its discussion of bungalows; Property Type 2,
which covers industrial housing; and Property Type 7, which describes
the characteristics of Greensboroc’s suburbs.

History

The White Oak textile mill was erected by Moses and Ceasar Cone,
the founders of the Cone Mills textile empire. The two brothers had
established their first textile works in Greensboro, the Southern
Finishing and Warehouse Company, in 1892. By +the close of the
century, they had built the Proximity Cotton Mill, and Emanuel and
Herman Sternberger had built the Revolution Cotton Mill, which the
Cones were later to acquire (Arnett 1955:171-172; Half-Century Book
1941; Balliett 1925; Fripp 19832:357-58.) Between 1902 and 1905 they

constructed their largest textile mill, White ©Qak, on a tract of
wooded land outside of the city limits, -about two-and-a-half miles
northeast of the courthouse. Tt was named for a large, old white oak
that was used as a starting point in surveying the property ("White
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Oak Plant” 1980). Opened in 1905 with 700 looms, the mill was

designed for 2,000. Initially referred to as the "White Elephant"”
according +to Herman Cone, it was expanded +to 3,000 looms in 1922
(American Jewish Times, March 1937). By 1825 White Oak was producing

160,000 yards of denim a day (Balliett 1925). By the end of the 1930s
it was the largest denim mill in the world (Half-Century Book 1941;

Arnett 1955:173).

White Oak New Town was built all at once, about 1920, by the
Proximity Manufacturing Company, under which name the Cone family
cotton mills were operating at the +time. Its addresses first appear
in the 1921 Greensboro city directory, although the community was not
actually encompassed by city limits until 1823. (Company records are
largely inaccessible, so precise construction dates and other early
information is not available.) The need for additional housing--the
White Oak Mill already had hundreds of houses arrayed in regular rows
in villages around it--was probably necessitated by +the 1,000-locom

expansion of the mill in +the early 1920s. One hundred hollow-tile-
walled, stuccoed houses, zall of which still stand, were built, along
with three no longer extant small, frame classroom buildings

(Greensboro City Directories; Sanborn Map Company 1925).

White Oak New Town is in many ways typical of all of the Cone
Mills company villages, which by 1925, according to the company,
housed 15,000 textile workers and their families (Balliett 1825).
(The name "New Town" indicates that other White Oak mill villages
preceded it.) Its houses are small but sturdy, laid out in a regular

grid, close to the street. Inexpensive to rent, they were located
within walking 4distance of +the mill, shopping, school, churches, and
the YMCA, 211 of which were built or subsidized by the company. In

fact, the village had its own classrooms, contained in the three frame
buildings at Hubbard and Cypress streets which no longer stand and at
2500, 2501, 2502, and 2503 Hubbard Street. With the construction of
the Ceasar Cone Public Scnool in 1935 just to the west of the village
on North Church Street, +the frame buildings were removed and the
others converted into dwellings (Sanborn Map Company 1925; Balliett
18257,

The Jjob list of the wvillage’s first male household heads reads

like a primer on the various stages of textile production. (Although
most of the women in the village, and many of the children, worked in
the mills, their occupations are rarely given 1in the city

directories.) There were speeder operators, dolphers, slubbers, card
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holders, and <card grinders, warpers, spoolers, lapper operators,
beamers, and slashers. Ten were loom fixers, <fifteen weavers, and
about a third were simply identified in city directories as mill
hands. Jobs beyond the mill floor were represented as well. Three
rasidents worked as clerks, another as a traveling salesman, and yet ’

another as a draftsman. Emery Pegram of 2400 North Church Street laid
bricks for the mills, J.R. Weaver of 2409 Cypress Street was employed
as a watchman, and Flake Redmond, who moved into 2500 Hubbard Street
when it ceased +to be a schoolhouse, patrolled the mills as a company
sheriff (Greensboro City Directories).

Two different house types were built in the village. On the 2400
block of Hubbard Street, twenty two-story, six-room houses were built.
The remaining eighty houses were a single story +tall and held four

rooms each. The larger houses were rented out to individuals with
large families (personal communication with Bill Dixon, June 12,
1991). The exact weekly rental is wunclear, but it was cheap, around
$1.00 a week for the four-room houses. Carrie Owen, who first moved

to the community with her family in 1924, believes that rentals in
that year were ninety-eight cents a week. Bill Dixon, who moved to
the neighborhood with his family in 1925, recalls that rentals were
$1.25 a week from the 1320s through the early 1950s, when the company
remodelled the houses and raised the rent to $10.00 a week (personal
communications with Bill Dixon and Carrie Owen, June 12, 1891). These
figures "jibe with a 1925 company publication that put rentals at $1.00
per room per month, and +the comments of a local historian of the
mills, Norman Pinkelton, who states that rental of a four-rocom house
during the Depression was ninety-two cents a week and an additional
twenty-five cents if a garage was included (Balliett 1925; Greensboro
New & Record, May 19, 19891).

Rentals had to be cheap, for wages were low. When Bill Dixon
started working at White Oak in the mid-1920s, at the age of fourteen,
he made 2310.75 a week. Carrie Owen’s first husband, Moss Varner, who

worked in the spool room, was making $9.00 a week when they married in
1933 (personal communications with Bill Dixon and Carrie Owen, June

2, 1991).

The houses had electricity, which was incliuded in the rent, but
initially no running water or plumbing. They were built with
bathrooms that throughout the twenties remained empty, necessitating
the use of outhouses and of water spigots set tetween pairs of houses.
In 1831 the company let contracts for Dbringing sewer lines to the
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villages and began to install +toilets and kitchen sinks (Greensbdro
News-Record, March 25, 1931). All of the outhouses were subsequently

removed.

The lives of Bill Dixon and Carrie Owen are typical of many early )
residents of White Oak New Town and other Cone Mills villages. Owen
first lived in the neighborhood on North Church (then Poplar) Street
in 1924, sharing a house with her family and another family until the
company could find them their own. The family had moved to Greensboro
from Danville, Virginia. Her father, James Crum, pushed the Coca Cola
truck through the mill and her mother, Leonie Crum, was a spinner and

alsoc took care of the "kitchen" or commissary. Carrie Owen attended
school at one of the schoolhouses on Hubbard Street and went toc work
at the mill at the age of fourteen as a spinner (personal

communication with Carrie Owen, June 12, 1891).

Bill Dixon came to Greensboro with his family in 1823, at the age

of thirteen. He had been raised on a farm near Star, a small town in
Randolph County, North Carolina, located about fifty miles south of
Greensboro. His father was & sharecropper who almost starved in a

failad effort to make a living off the land. A photo of the family’'s
Starr house pictures a one-story, one-room deep, gable-end house that
looks like much of the early Cone Mills housing, although not like the
New Town bungalows. With his parents and seven of his siblings, Dixon
moved +to a house on North Church Street in 1925. His father,
Franklin, worked as a filling hauler and his mother, Chaddie, as a
weaver. He attended schocl on Hubbard Street and at the age of
fourteen went to work for the mill. His first job was hauling water
to workers. He carried two buckets and two ladles, one for the black
workers and one for whites. He later worked as a weaver and retired
from +the company with a fifty-yvear commemorative watch in his
possession. He worked fifty-five hours a week for his $10.75 starting
wages, of which his father let him keep seventy-five cents, the rest
going towards the support of the family (personal communication with
Bill Dixon, June 12, 1891).

The quality of life in White Oak New Town and the mills remains

ocpen to gquestion. According to Bill Dixon, every worker in a company
house had to be employed by the mills or the family would be put out.
In addition, wages were low, prompting Dixon, Carrie Owen, and many
others to start working after a limited amount of schooling. Together

these factors restricted the opportunity of the young to move beyond
the z3mall, hard world of +the mill. As historian Samuel M. Kipp IIXI
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has written, the mill schools "ensured a continuous supply of modestly
educated, reasonably efficient workers, but failed to open significant
new avenues of upward mobility for workers" (Kipp 1874:306).
Historian William H. Chafe characterized working conditions and pay as
poor and the social efforts of +the owners as patermalistic and )
opportunistic (Chafe 1980:20) .

Cone Mills did not deny their patermalism. Rather, they chose to
cast it in a positive light. They provided social services--they were
the first 1in the state, in 1903, +to hire a social worker (Herring
1929:114)--schools, recreational opportunities, subsidized fuel and
food, and nominal rents, and declaimed +that +the "welfare of the
operatives and their families is a consideration that 1is always put
ahead of volume or profits." They also bluntly stated, however, that
"The management has always realized that it 1is upon the physical,
spiritual and mental well-being of the operatives and their families
that steady, economical production and a resultant profit depend"

(Balliett 1825).

Whether sconomically exploited or not, Carrie Owen and Bill Dixon
fondly remember a tight-knit community of people who looked out for
each other. They talk of neighbors keeping cows and horses, chickens
and goats, and the company providing fruit +trees and shrubs and
encouraging gardens. Both happily recall free hams on Christmas. In
1958, when the company offered to sell +the houses of White Oak New
Town to their occupants for about $5,000.00, they bought their homes,
as did many of +their neighbors (personal communications with Bill
Dixon and Carrie Owen, June 12, 19391).
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Verbal Boundary Description

The boundary of the White Oak New Town Historic District is shown as the

line on the accompanying base map.

[:} See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

@ See continuation sheet
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American Jewish Times. March, 1937. Clipping of an article by Herman
Cone entitled "A Short History of the Cone Textile Enterprises”
located in the vertical files of the Jackson Library, University

of North Carolina at Greensboro. ‘

Arnett, Ethel Stephens. 1955. Greensboro, North Carolina, the County
Seat of Guilford. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina
Press. Located at the Greensboro Public Library, Caldwell-Jones

Room.

Balliett, Carl J. 1825. World Leadership in Denims, Through Thirty
Years of Progress. Baltimore: Privately printed by the Thomsen-
Ellis Co. for the Proximity Manufacturing Company. Company
publication located at the Greenshoro Publlc Library, Caldwell-

Jones Room.

Baylin, Jonathan . 1968. "An Historical Study of Residential
Development in Greensboro, 1808-1965." Master’s thesis,
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Located at the
Greensboro Public Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

, Favle Hicks. 19832. Greensboro, A Chosen Center. Woodland Hills,
CA: Windsor Publications. Located at the Greensboro Public
Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

Fripp

Greensboro City Directories, 1920-1941. Located at the Greensboro
Public Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

Greensboro News & Record. May 19, 1991. Clipping of article, from
advertising supplement, entitled "Mill V*1lage Way of Life is
Bygone Era” locatsd in the vertical files of the Jdcxuon Library,
University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Greencsboro News-Record. March 25, 1931. Clipping of article entitled
"$200,000 to be Spent by Cone Interests to Improve Mill Houses”
located in the vertical files of the Jackson Library, University
of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Greénsb ro Record. February 26, 1948. Clipping of article entitied
"Many Southern Mills 3elling their Villages” located in the
varu;baL files of the Jackson Library, University of North
Carolina at Greensboro.
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Guilford County Deed Books. Located at Guilford County Courthouse,
Greensboro, North Carolina.

Guilford County Plat Books. Located at Guilford County Courthouse,
Greensboro, North Carolina.

Half Century Book, 1891-1941. 1941. Greensboro: Cone Export &
Commission Co. Company publication located at the Greensboro
Public Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.

Herring, Harriet L. 1929. Welfare Work in Mill Villages, the Story of
Extra-Mill Activities in North Carolina. Chapel Hill: The
University of North Carolina Press.

Kipp, Samuel Millard III. 1974. "Urban Growth and Social Change in the
South, 1870-1920: Greensboro, North Carolina, as a Case Study."
Ph.D. dissertaticn, Princeton University. Located at the Jackson
Library, University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Personal communication. June 12, 1991. Bill Dixon, longtime resident
of White Oak New Town.

. June 12, 1991. Carrie Owen, longtime resident
of White Oak New Town.

Sanborn Map and Publishing Co. 1885, 1338, 13891, and 1896.
"Greensboro, North Carolina." Fire insurance maps located at
Greensboro Planning Department, Greensboro Municipal Building.

Sanborn Map Company. 1902, 1913, 1919, and 1925. "Greensboro, North
Carolina." Fire insurance maps located at Greensboro Planning
Department, Greensboro Municipal Building.

"White Oak Plant, Cone Mills Corporation, Greensboro, N.C., 75 Years
of Progress, 1905-1880." 1980. Pamphlet located at the
Greensboro Public Library, Caldwell-Jones Room.
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. White QOak New Town Historic District
Section number ___10 Page __- Greensboro, Guilford Co., NC

The boundaries of the White Oak New Town Historic District
encompass the original extent of the mill village. The village is a
separate entity, its streets terminating at train tracks at the east,
fields and a modern apartment building at +the south, North Church )
Street at the west, and at the north at 16th Street and a modern
Baptist Church and Masonic Hall.
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